FILE FIL SUPREME Court of STATE OF WA Divis 8/21/20 State of W BY ERIN L. 8/21/2024 CLEF

Case #: 1033885

No. 858360

COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION 1

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HEIDI COLLINS AND DARYL COLLINS

Appellant,

SWEDISH MEDICAL CENTER,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

David A. Williams, WSBA # 12010 Law Office of David A. Williams 9 Lake Bellevue Dr., Ste. 104 Bellevue, WA 98005 Email: <u>daw@bellevue-law.com</u> Phone: (425) 646-7767 Fax: (425) 646-1101 Attorney for Appellant

I.

IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Heidi and Daryl Collins are the Appellants and were the Plaintiffs below.

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the attached unpublished decision from Court of Appeals Division I, filed on July 21st, 2024.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 In a medical negligence case, should experts who specifically testify to familiarity with the "standard of care relative to supervision of patients in the recovery room", and specifically testify that the standard is a "national standard" be required to provide additional "proof" that they are familiar with the standard "in Washington"?

- 2. Should such experts' Declarations be cast aside and summary judgement granted because the Declarations "fail to disclose how [the experts] knew that our state incorporates the national standard"?
- 3. Since the recognized standard of care in Washington is "reasonable prudence under the circumstances", should this Court dispense with the arcane requirement that an expert familiar with "reasonable prudence" need testify to

familiarity with the "actual practice" in Washington?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- The Complaint (CP 1-2) alleges that "On October 10th, 2018, Plaintiff Heidi Collins was injured through the negligence of Swedish agents/employees", and that "the injury was not diagnosed through the continuing negligence of Swedish agents/employees."
- 2. In response to Respondent's Interrogatories, Appellant Heidi Collins gave a detailed description of the incident basing the Complaint. Declaration of David Williams, CP 95-101. Because of its importance, the answer will be quoted at length:

"On October 10, 2018, Erin Fraiser, Samantha? & third nurse listed in my records. I was in a deep

anesthesia-induced sleep in the bed closet to the curtain of the dark recovery room (my bed was also farthest from the window). I was awakened as asked to move. I have had a colonoscopy before and a few other twilight procedures; I was always allowed to awaken in my own time and I don't understand why she woke me while I was clearly still under large amounts of anesthesia. Consequently I was incredibly dizzy and out of it, and remember feeling a monumental struggle just to sit up and swing my legs one by one over the right side of the bed. No help was given me as I struggled to move. I felt so incredibly tired; it was a battle just to keep my eyes open and I was very wobbly in all my movements. I tried to stand up and immediately started to fall over; I reached backward for the wheelchair, but my arms were to high to reach the handles. My legs hit the wheelchair but it was not locked in position, so it slid behind me. I fell, hitting the floor heavily. My yes closed right as I started to fall backward and I felt as though I were dreaming and flying, when I felt a HUGE amount of pressure in my back, buttocks, and upper thighs (pressure was worse on my right side), at which point I opened my eyes and woke up again and realized where I was. I felt surprised to find myself on the floor – I had ALWAYS been helped with moving positions during/associated with previous, (and, I was to find, subsequent) procedures by nursing staff. I tried to grab a chair seat for support from my position on the floor as I tried to stand up, and again it slipped away because it was not locked in place. As I struggled to my feet the nurse wen behind me to either hold or lock the chair behind

me so that I could sit – I never did stand up straight but kind of aimed myself backwards into the chair. I felt woozy, dizzy, indescribably exhausted. She wheeled me over to the bed beside the window. I stood up, again with great difficulty, and got somehow into the other bed, wondering why I'd been moved at all – I was the only patient in the room! The nurse did not report my fall and I received no care or assistance following their negligence. She did not provide any aftercare for my fall. She did not notify anyone that I had fallen. She did not discuss with me or tell me that I had fall." (all emphasis added)

3. Respondent moved for Summary Judgement on July

26th, 2023. CP 8-17. The basis of the Motion was

Appellant's alleged "failure to produce the required

expert testimony establishing a breach of the

applicable standard of care and that such breach was a

proximate cause of each of the alleged injuries." Id.

The Motion was unaccompanied by any substantive evidence.

 The parties had agreed to the hearing date for the Motion---August 25th, 2023---in June, and the Notice/Motion were properly and timely served. CP 95-101.

- 5. However, due to human error, neither the hearing date, nor the one-week deadline to "flag" practiced in Appellant's Counsel's office, nor the day-of "flag" were entered into Appellant's counsel's office calendar. CP 95-101.Appellant's counsel happened to be at his desk when Respondent's reply was served, four days before the hearing, and saw it pop up on his computer screen. Id. Before that, "the last conscious thought [counsel] had given to [the] Motion would likely have been in June, when we cleared the date". Id.
- Appellant's counsel immediately contacted
 Respondent's counsel by email, "explained the situation, and asked if counsel would agree to a "few

weeks" extension of the hearing". Id. Respondent's counsel did not reply to this request. Id

7. On August 22nd, 2023---having heard nothing from Respondent's counsel---Appellant's counsel moved under CR 56(f) for continuance of the hearing. CP 102-104. Appellant's Primary Witness list had already been circulated, identifying two experts---Latonya Brumfield, RN, and Kim Lewis, RN. Id .Respondent's counsel's Declaration accompanying the Motion expressed that he had "no doubt that with a two-tothree-week extension, I will have a Declaration for both of my experts as to the standard of care, which Ms. Collins' own testimony will show wasn't followed." CP 95-101. The detailed interrogatory answer from Heidi Collins quoted above was attached.

- Respondent opposed the Motion to Continue the hearing and the matter was argued as scheduled on August 25th, 2023. The Court took all matters under advisement. CP 135-142.
- 9. Meantime, Appellant's counsel consulted with his two experts. By Supplemental Declaration dated September 1, 2023, (CP 107-119) he submitted an unsign3ed copy of the Declaration of Nurse Lewis, stating that "Based upon my conversation with her, I expert her to sign and return the document shortly". CP 107-119. The Declaration recited that "assuming the Plaintiff's version of events is correct, the recovery nurse fell below the standard of care by failing to be in a position to prevent her fall." Id.
- Counsel's Supplemental Declaration also included a copy of records from Defendant's Emergency Room

to which Collins had returned the evening of the

colonoscopy. ID. The note reads in part:

"Today she had an outpatient colonoscopy, which was without any acute findings. She states that she went home and was feeling well, then started to develop pain "all over", worse within the last hour". Id.

- 11.The Declaration of Latonya Brumfield, RN, was filed September 1st, 2023. CP 120-128. The Declaration recites her qualifications, recites her knowledge of the (national) standard of care, recites her review of Collins' interrogatory description of the incident, recites the applicable standard of care in that situation, and <u>specifically says</u> that, "based upon the Plaintiff's version of events, the care she received fell below the standard".
- 12. On September 5th, 2023, the Court entered an Order(1) granting Appellant's Motion for Continuance, but

- 13.also (2) granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgement. CP 135-142.
- 14. The Court did not sign either party's Proposed Order;rather, the Court authored its own, detailed Order,specifically indicating that the Court had "considered"all of Plaintiff's submissions.

15. This appeal timely followed. CP 144-142

16.The Court of Appeals affirmed by unpublished opinion, rejecting Respondent's expert declarations, since "neither of [Respondent's expert witnesses established a familiarity with the standard of care in Washington state", and neither indicated "how they knew that our state incorporates the national standard".

ARGUMENT

"The standard of care against which a health care provider's conduct is to be measured is that of a reasonably prudent practitioner possessing the degree of skill, care and learning possessed by the other members of the same profession in the state of Washington. <u>The</u> <u>degree of care actually practiced by members of the</u> <u>profession is only some evidence of what is reasonably</u> <u>prudent – it is not dispositive.</u>

Harris v. Robert C. Growth, M.D., Inc., P.S., 99 Wn.2d 438, 451, 663 P.2d 113 (1983). (emphasis added)

RCW 7.70.040 requires proof that:

 (a) The health care provider failed to exercise that degree of care, skill, and learning expected of a reasonably prudent health care provider at that time in the profession or class to which he or she belongs, in the State of Washington, acting in the same or similar circumstances;

The pattern jury instruction, WPI 105.01, mirrors

<u>Harris</u>.

This Court has not considered whether an expert in a medical case must recite the obvious: In the 21st

century, "reasonably prudence" rarely, if ever at all, knows state boundaries. The language of <u>Harris</u> above suggests that an expert's "lack of familiarity" with the "degree of care actually practiced" in Washington might be fertile area for cross examination (almost assuredly not, in truth) but not fatal to his/her competency.

The supposed requirement that experts must testimony that the relevant standard is a "national" one has creeped into various Court of Appeals' Opinions. Usually it's happened where, as here, a particular expert's declaration was ruled defective for want of appropriate recitation of familiarity with the so-called "national standard". For example, in <u>Elber v. Larson, 142</u> Wash.App 243, 173 P.3d 990 (2007) the trial court dismissed a case where the Plaintiff's expert neurosurgeon had decades of

experience in California and Vermont, and whose declaration testimony was that "the standard of care for neurosurgeons performing spine surgery is a national standard", going on to say:

> "The medicine, anatomy and instrumentation, along with the anticipated risks and benefits of the surgery are the same in Washington State as in California and Vermont. Through my education, experience, training and knowledge I am aware of the standard of care in the State of Washington."

The Court of Appeals reversed.

The supposed "national standard/local standard" foundation is not supported by <u>Harris</u> or RCW 7.70.040, and, respectfully, ignores the realities of 21st Century medicine---essentially all standards of care are "national".

It might be recalled that Respondent submitted no evidence whatsoever in support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, let alone evidence for the absurd proposition that the "standard of care" for supervising patients in the recovery room post-surgery varies from state to state.

It is respectfully submitted that this Court should accept review and clarify that an expert's familiarity of what "reasonable prudence" required in a particular medical situation in Washington does NOT necessarily require proof that the expert is familiar with the "actual" standard of care.

CONCLUSION

The Court should take review.

I declare this brief to have 1,861 words.