FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/21/2024 1:30 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1033885

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HEIDI COLLINS and DARYL COLLINS,

Appellants,

v.

SWEDISH MEDICAL CENTER,

Respondent.

SWEDISH MEDICAL CENTER'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Amber L. Pearce, WSBA No. 31626 FLOYD, PFLUEGER, KEARNS, NEDDERMAN & GRESS P.S. 3101 Western Avenue, Suite 400 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 441.4455

Attorneys for Respondent

I. INTRODUCTION

In this medical malpractice case, the Court of Appeals, Division I, properly affirmed in an unpublished decision the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of Heidi and Daryl Collins' (Collins) lawsuit. Based on well-settled law, the appellate court first held that neither of the Collins' nursing experts "established a familiarity with the standard of care in Washington state" because "they both fail to disclose how they knew that our state incorporates the national standard or provide any underlying support for that opinion." Collins v. Swedish Medical Center, No. 85836-0, slip op. at 9 (Wa Ct. Appeals July 22, 2024). The Court of Appeals stated that this "is plainly insufficient to establish the necessary familiarity with the standard of care in Washinton so as to provide an admissible expert opinion on the issue." Id. (citing Boyer v. Morimoto, 10 Wn. App. 2d 506, 524, 449 P.3d 285 (2019), review denied 194 Wn.2d 1022 (2020)).

Second, even if either expert had created a foundation for familiarity with Washington's standard of care, "both of the

expert witnesses' opinions regarding Swedish's purported breach of the Washington state standard of care are conclusory and fail to provide specific facts showing how it was violated here." *Collins*, slip op. at 9.

It is well-settled that experts "must state specific facts showing what the applicable standard of care was and how the defendants violated it." *Id.* (quoting *Reyes v. Yakima Health Dist.*, 191 Wn.2d 79, 89, 419 P.3d 819 (2018)). The *Reyes* Court explained that "the expert must link [their] conclusions to a factual basis." *Id.* Further—as here—unsigned declarations do not constitute competent evidence in ruling on summary judgment motions. *Our Lady of Lourdes Hosp. v. Franklin Cnty.*, 120 Wn.2d 439, 452, 842 P.2d 956 (1993).

In sum, the Court of Appeals followed well-established law in affirming dismissal of the Collins' medical malpractice lawsuit. The Court should deny review.

Additionally, review should be denied because the Collins wholly fails to address or apply RAP 13.4(b) considerations

under which the Supreme Court will "only" accept review. Nevertheless, the lower court's opinion affirming dismissal conflicts with no decision of this Court; conflicts with no published decision of the Court of Appeals; involves no constitutional questions; and involves no issue of substantial public interest that this Court has not already resolved. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). Based on the foregoing, this Court should deny review.

II. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Collins' skeletal complaint alleges that on "October 10, 2018 Plaintiff Heid Collins was injured through the negligence of Swedish agents/employees." CP 1. Their complaint contains no additional allegations about what occurred on October 10, nor specifies the nature of the alleged injury. CP 1-2.

A. The Collins' delayed answering discovery for three months.

Because their complaint was devoid of any further description or explanation, Swedish propounded interrogatories

and requests for production. After a three-month delay in responding to Swedish's discovery requests, the Collins appear to claim that on October 10 a nurse negligently failed to provide appropriate care in the immediate aftermath of her colonoscopy procedure, and that as a result, she suffered alleged injuries. CP 18, 38-50, CP 102. The Collins failed to produce any supportive documents, including medical records, in their delayed response to Swedish's discovery requests. CP 9.

The Collins never served any discovery requests on Swedish nor requested any depositions in this case. CP 68.

B. The Collins failed to timely identify expert opinions.

The Collins also failed to timely comply with the case schedule to (1) identify medical experts; and (2) disclose expert opinions; (3) nor did they supplement discovery answers with the requested expert opinions. CP 19.

C. Swedish moved for summary judgment as a matter of law.

Swedish moved for summary judgment dismissal as a matter of law because the Collins failed to produce the required competent expert testimony establishing that employees or agents of Swedish breached the applicable standard of care on October 10, and that such breach was a proximate cause of their alleged injuries. CP 9-14, CP 19.

The Collins failed to calendar their summary judgment response deadline. CP 93, 102. Thus, they neither timely responded to Swedish's motion for summary judgment nor produced a declaration, letter or report from any expert, nor disclosed any expert witness opinions. CP 62, CP 64-65. Instead, on August 15, 2023, they disclosed the *names* of two nursing experts, but, again, no opinions. CP 53.

Swedish filed a reply in support of summary judgment dismissal on August 21, 2023. CP 61-62. The following morning, August 22, Swedish filed a supplemental reply requesting that the trial court exercise its discretion and deny any potential request for a continuance of the summary judgment hearing

because the Collins were on notice of the hearing date *two* months before the summary judgment motion was filed. CP 67-69, 74.

Later on August 22, the Collins requested that the trial court impose the "least severe sanction" under the *Burnett* factors for their delayed response, but to not dismiss the case. CP 93-94. They sought to submit a late expert opinion via declaration, while simultaneously questioning whether an expert opinion was actually necessary to establish the elements of their medical malpractice claims. *Id.* They separately moved that same afternoon for a three-week CR 56(f) continuance to "consult" with their "already-identified witnesses." CP 102-04. The trial court heard oral argument on Swedish's motion for summary judgment, as originally scheduled, on August 25, 2023. CP 105.

D. After oral argument, the Collins submitted a medical record, an unsigned and legally deficient expert declaration, and a second legally flawed expert declaration.

On September 1, 2023, the Collins submitted to the trial court a medical record, dated October 10, 2018, which states, in part, as follows:

The etiology of her pain has not yet been determined. Today, she had an outpatient colonoscopy, which was without any acute findings. She states that she went home and was feeling well, then started to develop pain "all over," worse within the last hour.

CP 109 (emphasis added). The nine-page record references no falls or injuries; no beds or chairs; and no nurses. It does references right abdominal pain and anxiety. CP 109. It also states that the Collins were in the emergency room on October 8 "for similar right lower quadrant pain." Her own treating doctor was unable to "determine the etiology of her pain." CP 105.

Additionally, the Collins submitted an *unsigned* nursing expert's declaration. CP 118-19. Nurse Kim Lewis from Jonesborough, Tennessee, premised her threadbare opinion <u>not</u> on medical records, but on Collins' interrogatory answer "outlining Plaintiff's version of the event in question." CP 118.

Lewis only offered the conclusory statement that "[a]ssuming that the plaintiff's version of events is correct, the recovery nurse fell below the standard of care by failing to be in a position to help her off the bed without falling and in failing to be in a position to prevent her fall." CP 119.

That same day, the Collins submitted an expert declaration of nurse Latonya Brumfield, from Baton Rouge, Louisiana. CP 120-21, 123. Brumfield's opinion was <u>not</u> based on medical records, but "upon Plaintiff's interrogatory description of the incident in question." CP 120. Brumfield summarily concluded that "[b]ased upon the Plaintiff's versions of events, the care she received fell below the standard." CP 121. Both experts relied upon an undefined "national" standard of care untethered to Washington's standard. CP 118, 120.

Neither expert (1) established that she was competent to testify based on personal knowledge; (2) offered opinions on a more probable-than-not basis or based on a reasonable degree of medical certainty; (3) established that she had sufficient

expertise; (4) discussed the applicable standard of care and the specific facts demonstrating how Swedish allegedly violated it; (5) discussed how the national standard of care is specifically tied to Washington's standard of care; (6) identified what type of health care professional allegedly violated the standard of care (*i.e.*, whether it was a nurse or some other type of health care professional); or (7) discussed proximate causation connected to an injury. CP 129-33. Swedish submitted a reply to both declarations, identifying the foregoing legal deficiencies. *Id.*

E. The trial court granted Swedish's motion for summary judgment dismissal as a matter of law.

The trial court granted the Collins' CR 56(f) continuance; declined to impose sanctions because it found that the Collins' delayed response was not willful; and granted Swedish' summary judgment motion because the expert opinions lacked foundation; were conclusory; speculative; and failed to address proximate causation. CP 138-39.

F. The Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal based on well-established Supreme Court principles.

Division I of the Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal based on this Court's well-established principles that expert testimony is generally necessary to ascertain the standard of care. *Collins*, slip op. at 7 (citing *Frausto v. Yakima HMA, LLC*, 188 Wn.2d 227, 231-32, 393 P.3d 776 (2017)). Further, Collins failed to explain how the circumstances in this case somehow rendered expert testimony unnecessary to establish the standard of care or causation. *Collins*, slip op. 8 (citing *Harris v. Robert C. Groth, MD, Inc.*, 99 Wn.2d 438, 449, 663 P.2d 113 (1983)).

Further, it is well-established that experts "must state specific facts showing what the applicable standard of care was and how defendant violated it." *Collins*, slip op. at 9 (quoting *Reyes*, 191 Wn.2d at 89). Additionally, "the expert must link [their] conclusions to a factual basis." *Collins*, slip op. at 9 (quoting *id*. at 87). Finally, unsigned declarations do not constitute competent evidence in ruling on summary judgment

motions. *Collins*, slip op. at 10 (citing *Our Lady of Lourdes Hosp.*, 120 Wn.2d at 452).

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Collins address no RAP 13.4 considerations governing acceptance of review; their petition does not merit this Court's attention.

As a preliminary matter, a "petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court *only*" if one of four factors are considered. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4) (emphasis added). Here, the Collins address no factor, thus present no compelling argument that an appellate court's unpublished decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Further, the Collins raise no constitutional question, nor explain how their petition involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

In sum, the Collins' petition does not merit this Court's attention because the Court of Appeals correctly followed Supreme Court precedent in applying well-established law

governing expert declarations in a medical malpractice case.

Justice was served in the trial and appellate court. There is no point of law to be decided or clarified here. The Court should deny discretionary review.

B. Review should be denied because the Court of Appeals correctly followed Supreme Court precedent in determining that the Collins' expert declarations were legally deficient.

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed summary judgment dismissal because the Collins' two nursing expert declarations contain conclusory statements without adequate factual support; fail to establish proximate causation; and fail to opine based a medical degree of certainty, among other significant deficiencies. CP 138-40; *see also Collins*, slip op. at 9-10 (referencing two expert declarations (at CP 118-21) and stating that the nursing experts failed to opine how Washington's standard of care was breached, and failed to provide specific facts showing how the standard was violated; "neither expert identifies the specific facts that support their respective opinions as to the standard of care or breach thereof").

In reaching its decision affirming dismissal, the Court of Appeals relied on and correctly applied well-known and well-settled law. There is no basis to accept discretionary review.

C. The Court of Appeals correctly applied wellrecognized law in concluding that out-of-state experts must establish familiarity with Washington's standard of care.

The Collins continue to ignore the foregoing significant deficiencies of their experts' declarations that, alone, function as a basis for dismissal. Instead, the Collins focus on what they characterize as an "arcane requirement" in Washington that an out-of-state expert must disclose an adequate foundation that Washington's applicable standard of care is national in scope. Pet. at 2, 10.

Inexplicably, the Collins contend that an out-of-state expert need <u>not</u> establish that he/she is "familiar with the 'actual' standard of care" because "all standards of care are 'national." Pet. at 13-14. But this is not the law in Washington. Washington follows a state statutory standard. RCW 7.70.040(1)(a), (b).

The Collins cryptically cite *Elber v. Larson*, 142 Wn. App. 243, 173 P.3d 990 (2007) for the proposition that an expert—as here—can simply parrot that the Washington standard of care is the same as the national standard. Pet. at 12-13. Such a simplistic interpretation belies the *Elber* decision and the entire jurisprudential landscape of this issue.

Unfortunately, the Collins omit critical context in their one-dimensional analysis of *Elber*. In *Elber*, the expert's *first* declaration in response to summary judgment dismissal "did not recite that he was familiar with the standard of care in the state of Washington." *Id.* at 254. The trial court dismissed plaintiff's medical malpractice lawsuit. However, the plaintiff moved for reconsideration and submitted a *supplemental* expert declaration wherein the expert explained he had "contacted medical colleagues in the State of Washington to confirm that the practices of that state are not different from the national standards of the American Board of Neurological Surgery." *Id.* at 246. Further, he explained *how* the national standard of care for

neurosurgeons performing spine surgery—the anatomy, instrumentation, risks and benefits—are the same in Washington. *Id*.

Despite the submission of the supplemental declaration, the trial court in *Elber* denied reconsideration. However, the Court of Appeal correctly reversed the trial court because the *supplemental* declaration established the foundation for his familiarity with Washington's standard of care. *Id.* at 250.

Here, as in *Elber*, neither of Collins' nursing experts established a foundation for their purported familiarity with Washington's standard of care, and how it is consistent with the national standard. And unlike *Elbers*, the Collins submitted no supplemental expert declaration that laid a foundation to support their opinion that the state and national standards of care are identical.

In the seminal case, *Boyer v. Morimoto*, the appellate court analyzed prior cases and explained *in detail* how and why an expert "must provide some underlying support for his opinion

that the state standard follows the national standard." 10 Wn. App. 2d at 524. The Supreme Court denied review in 2020. The Collins failure to address and purport to distinguish *Boyer* is a critical misstep.

Far from being an "arcane requirement," the *Boyer* court held that an expert's "qualification to render medical opinions on the standard of care in Washington State is as important an element in a medical malpractice case as the factual basis on which the expert supports his opinion. For this reason, we hold that the testifying expert must disclose the factual basis on which the expert purports to know the standard of care in Washington." *Id.* at 526.

Here, the Court of Appeals relied on *Boyer*, among other cases, to reach the same conclusion. The Court of Appeals held that neither of Collins' experts "established a familiarity with the standard of care in Washington state." *Collins*, slip op. at 9. In affirming dismissal on this basis, among many other bases ignored by the Collins here, the Court of Appeals decision is

squarely consistent with Washington law. The Court should deny discretionary review.

IV. CONCLUSION

Swedish respectfully requests that the Court deny discretionary review because this case merits no attention under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). Further, the Court of Appeals properly applied well-established law in affirming summary judgment dismissal of the Collins' negligence claim as a matter of law.

<u>Certificate of Compliance</u>: The number of words contained in this document (exclusive of words referenced in RAP 18.17(b)), based on the word count calculation of Microsoft is 2611.